

CAMBRIDGE TECHNICALS LEVEL 3 (2016)

Moderators' report

SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

05826-05829, 05872

Summer 2023 series

Contents

Introduction4
Online courses
Cambridge Nationals4
GCSE, A Level and Cambridge Technicals (2016)4
Accessing our online courses4
General overview
Comments on individual units
Unit 2 – Sports coaching and activity leadership6
Unit 5 – Performance analysis in sport and exercise7
Unit 6 – Group exercise to music
Unit 8 – Organisation of sports events7
Unit 10 – Biomechanics and movement analysis7
Unit 11- Physical activity for specific groups8
Unit 12 – Nutrition and diet for sport and exercise9
Unit 13- Health and fitness testing for sport and exercise
Unit 17: Sports injuries and rehabilitation10
Unit 18: Practical skills in sports and activities11
Unit 19: Sport and exercise psychology11
Unit 20 – Sport and exercise sociology12

Would you prefer a Word version?

Did you know that you can save this PDF as a Word file using Acrobat Professional?

Simply click on File > Export to and select Microsoft Word

(If you have opened this PDF in your browser you will need to save it first. Simply right click anywhere on the page and select **Save as . . .** to save the PDF. Then open the PDF in Acrobat Professional.)

If you do not have access to Acrobat Professional there are a number of **free** applications available that will also convert PDF to Word (search for PDF to Word converter).

Introduction

Our Lead Moderators' reports are produced to offer constructive feedback on centres' assessment of moderated work, based on what has been observed by the moderation team. These reports include a general commentary of accuracy of internal assessment judgements; identify good practice in relation to evidence collation and presentation and comments on the quality of centre assessment decisions against individual Learning Objectives. This report also highlights areas where requirements have been misinterpreted and provides guidance to centre examiners on requirements for accessing higher mark bands. Where appropriate, the report will also signpost to other sources of information that centre examiners will find helpful.

OCR completes moderation of centre-assessed work in order to quality assure the internal assessment judgements made by examiners within a centre. Where OCR cannot confirm the centre's marks, we may adjust them in order to align them to the national standard. Any adjustments to centre marks are detailed on the Moderation Adjustments report, which can be downloaded from Interchange when results are issued. Centres should also refer to their individual centre report provided after moderation has been completed. In combination, these centre-specific documents and this overall report should help to support centres' internal assessment and moderation practice for future series.

Online courses

We have created online courses to build your confidence in delivering, marking and administering internal assessment for our qualifications. Courses are available for Cambridge Nationals, GCSE, A Level and Cambridge Technicals (2016).

Cambridge Nationals

All teachers delivering our redeveloped Cambridge Nationals suite from September 2022 are asked to complete the Essentials for the NEA course, which describes how to guide and support your students. You'll receive a certificate which you should retain.

Following this you can also complete a subject-specific Focus on Internal Assessment course for your individual Cambridge Nationals qualification, covering marking and delivery.

GCSE, A Level and Cambridge Technicals (2016)

We recommend all teachers complete the introductory module Building your Confidence in Internal Assessment, which covers key internal assessment and standardisation principles.

Following this you will find a subject-specific course for your individual qualification, covering marking criteria with examples and commentary, along with interactive marking practice.

Accessing our online courses

You can access all our online courses from our teacher support website Teach Cambridge.

You will find links relevant to your subject under Assessment, NEA/Coursework and then Online Courses from the left hand menu on your Subject page.

If you have any queries, please contact our Customer Support Centre on 01223 553998 or email <u>support@ocr.org.uk</u>.

General overview

Centres still appear to be struggling with the impact of COVID. Many centres are commenting on issues with candidates' mental health and how this is affecting attendance at centres and therefore quality of work has dropped. It has been a year of two halves – some centres have picked back up from COVID and really enjoyed the units, being able to deliver them with a more hands on approach again, resulting in some very strong work. Other centres are still struggling to produce the quality of evidence required in a Level 3 course. As previously, we would really stress to centres the importance of following the assessment criteria, paying particular attention to the command word. Many centres have had units unclassified due to providing written work for practical criteria such as 'respond', 'take steps' or 'select and use'. Centres who have followed unit guidance and command words have produced some very strong evidence with some innovative ideas like podcasts, presentations with videos embedded in them and candidates producing their own websites for their sports event for Unit 8- all of which have been great to see.

Comments on individual units

Unit 2 – Sports coaching and activity leadership

We have seen some fantastic plans and work for this unit as well as some brief and basic work. Overall, quality of lessons plans is getting better and where centres have had feedback regarding P4 and P5, there is now some very good applied knowledge for P4 and good videos and annotated photos for P5.

Assessment for learning

P1 - P3: The criteria refer to sports coaches and activity leaders so centres must make sure candidates do not just focus on the sports coach.

P3: The command word is 'compare' the roles and responsibilities. This means candidates must compare the roles and responsibilities between teachers, coaches and activity leaders. Be careful that candidates do not describe one, then the next and then next. This is not a comparison.

P4: The criteria requires the candidates to explain how leadership style and personality type can support different stages of group development. Candidates should not just repeat all the teaching content. Examiners need to teach the info about personality type, leadership styles and group stages but the candidates need to produce evidence which draws this together and 'uses' the information. Candidates need to explain which leadership style and which personality type would support the group at the forming stage, then the norming stage and so on.

M1: The command word is 'evaluate'. Candidates need to do more than just explain the attributes. They need to consider:

- which is most important?
- are they all needed as much for all types of groups size and age?

P5: Candidates do not need to write out all of the descriptions for the classifications. The criteria states 'demonstrate' methods as the command word. The candidates are meant to demonstrate the practice types. When centres have done this well, the candidates have lead drills for each other on the different practice types, taken photos of each other doing this and annotated them saying; 'This is me leading a fixed practice for the basketball free throw. This is because it is a closed skill etc.' Along with this, they have then included some peer and self-assessment. Other centres have provided a detailed witness statement. While it can be done through delivery of the six coaching sessions it is harder to make sure it meets requirements. The criteria comes before the planning stage and is designed to be practised to prepare the candidates to be coaches but also because the guidance says 'needs to cover a range of practice types for each skill classification'. This is often not suitable for some sports as they don't require some types of practices.

P6: This is a practical command: 'establish the needs'. Candidates need to find out what the needs are of the participants they will be planning sessions for. The evidence therefore needs to support them finding it out such as questionnaire, notes made from observing the group or emails sent to the class teacher.

D1: The criteria states how sessions might need to be adapted. This should be done before delivery and is focused on the candidate planning and therefore being ready in a session to be able to adapt the session because they have thought about it in advance. It is not how they adapted in the past tense, although this is more a feature of D2. D1 requires candidates to give ideas about how they would adapt their plans if participants were finding the session to easy and similarly if they were finding it too hard.

M4: This requires candidates to explain how safety was maintained throughout the sessions. The command word is 'explain' and submitting a risk assessment does not do this.

Unit 5 – Performance analysis in sport and exercise

Some good profiling and analysis has been seen in this unit. Centres have been better at showing evidence of using analysis methods and candidates giving feedback for the three scenarios outlined.

Assessment for learning

M3: Centres need to make sure candidates are comparing and contrasting methods and not evaluating methods.

Unit 6 – Group exercise to music

This unit is either well done or misunderstood. The focus of this unit is 'to music' therefore music must be key in the planning and significant in the delivery. This is not just a training unit with exercise in the background.

When centres have grasped the concept of exercise to music, we have seen some excellent delivery of HIIT sessions and yoga classes with candidates showing real potential to be sports instructors in the future.

Assessment for learning

P2: This requires candidates to select music and not just generally describe the legalities of using music in general.

P6: This must be recorded, with candidates delivering their own sessions. #

Unit 8 – Organisation of sports events

We have seen evidence of some great events being run across the country, with mascots, inflatables, winter sports days and escape room type events. It has been great to see candidates engaging with the unit so well. While it is hard work for both candidates and examiners, it is such a great learning experience for the candidates and they gain valuable knowledge and skills through planning and delivering these events. Well done to those centres who really got involved with this unit.

Assessment for learning

M2: It states 'explain in detail health and safety, contingency and feasibility'. Handing in a risk assessment does not explain in detail health and safety.

M5: This requires candidates to write a personal development plan. This is not a review of the event or how they would improve the event. This should be a plan of how they personally will improve their event organisation/coaching ability. It could include things like volunteering with Yr 7 football/netball training, or volunteering at a local sports club, taking a Level 1 coaching or officiating award. The criteria references 'a plan' so this work should have some detail about how they could go about it, timescales, costs, etc.

This unit is done well with some detailed and scientific evidence produced.

Assessment for learning

M3: This requires candidates to draw a free body diagram. They cannot cut and paste and image from the internet. It must be drawn, however stick people are fine and help candidates to meet the criteria.

Unit 11- Physical activity for specific groups

P1: This requires candidates to describe the provision. The guidance states candidates must describe how and why the target groups have been identified. We have seen some good work produced referring to participation statistics to support why different target groups have been identified as needing intervention such as Active Lives survey by Sport England. Candidates also need to describe the provision for three groups – this could include describing what provision there is locally for that group in sports centres, clubs, etc. or it could be on a more generic level about what opportunities exist for them in general, e.g., for disabled people provision could include adapted sports such as wheelchair basketball, wheelchair tennis, Boccia, and then adding some extra detail.

Session plans have varied in detail. Some centre and candidates have really engaged with this unit and candidates have gained a lot from planning sessions for older people, pregnant participants and people with disabilities. They have produced some good plans showing good understanding about how to adapt activities or make activities suitable for the needs of different groups. Other centres have simply submitted Unit 2 plans. While you can technically do this as children or adolescents are target groups, it doesn't require the candidates to really think about the needs of the group and how activities are adapted. If a centre chooses to submit their Unit 2 plans, they must make sure it is clear how the sessions are adapted for their target group.

Assessment for learning

P1: Candidates have quite a lot to cover in these criteria. They need to:

- 1) say how and why all the groups are identified as target groups
- 2) identify at least two local and two national campaigns (for any target group)
- 3) describe provision for three groups.

M1: This requires candidates to explain how providers can overcome the barriers but also promote the benefits. Often, candidates forget this second aspect and only suggest solutions to barriers and do not refer to how providers can promote the benefits.

P2 - P3: Often, candidates are very brief and only state one or two barriers or benefits for a group. While this is a big area and it is only pass level criteria, candidates should still be encouraged to cover a range of points for each group.

P4: Guidance states that this requires a case study.

P5: Candidates are required to produce plans for two groups. Centres need to make sure candidates are aware what activities are appropriate or not for the groups, for example, squats may not be ideal for a heavily pregnant female, nor might mountain climbers be possible for an obese person.

Unit 12 – Nutrition and diet for sport and exercise

Assessment for learning

Ensure candidates provide the examples as indicated by the guidance, e.g. M1 requires three different sports. This criterion also requires candidates to analyse the differences. It is not acceptable for candidates to describe the requirements of one sport, then another and then another. This does not analyse the differences.

Unit 13- Health and fitness testing for sport and exercise

Centres seem to have struggled with this unit somewhat. Examiners need to think about this unit and follow it like a personal trainer would work with a client. After P1 and M1, the rest should flow like a client meeting their PT at a gym.

- 1. Meet and greet client.
- 2. Screen the client.
- 3. Based on this information, decide on what the aim of the programme will be (hypothetical programme as not following a training programme for this unit).
- 4. Put together a testing plan of what tests you will do, how and when. This does not require candidates to cover all of the tests in every testing session for this plan. That is not realistic to how this process would go for a PT. You may initially test a client with all the tests, depending on their PAR Q and health, however following on from screening you would use tests relevant to goals selected. This is what the D1 criteria should reflect. It requires three sessions; one must include health tests and one must include fitness tests.
- 5. Create a session plan for one of the sessions planned for D1 (or if not doing D1 create a session plan).
- 6. Deliver the plan this must be recorded.
- 7. Record results and give client the feedback.

Unit 17: Sports injuries and rehabilitation

This unit has shown mixed performance this year. Existing examiners have delivered and assessed this well. New centres or new examiners do not seem to have paid attention to the guidance in the unit as much as required.

Assessment for learning

P1- P2: Must cover all the acute and chronic injuries and psychological effects listed in the spec.

P3: Must cover all the points listed in the teaching content.

P4: This is a practical command. Candidates must take the steps to minimise the risk during a session. This can be evidenced using a witness statement from Unit 2 if the witness statement provides information that is appropriate, e.g. candidate delivering a warm up, checking participants have correct clothing on, etc. A risk assessment does not evidence the candidate taking steps and will not be accepted as evidence for P4.

P5: Candidates must respond to all of the acute injuries listed in the specification which are: sprain/strain, broken bone, torn ligament and dislocation. Completing a first aid course is an excellent addition to this unit however in itself does not provide evidence for P5.

P10: Overall, plans are done well but sometimes candidates rush the end stages. Encourage candidates to plan gradual return to their sport.

D1: The command word for this criterion is 'analyse'. Many candidates just explain safety measures. This is not what D1 asks for. They need to analyse how measures are recognised and legislated for in a sport. This requires candidates to be able to discuss the issue:

How is it legislated?

Is it well legislated?

Does the measure work?

Does it depend on the level of play?

Does it depend on the quality of the official?

Unit 18: Practical skills in sports and activities

Candidates should submit evidence for their sporting performance. Candidates should be encouraged to do sports which they perform best in and not enter whole classes for sports unless they have no alternative. There have been some misunderstandings where centres have the impression that all candidates should be submitted for the same two sports and they should teach and coach these over the year. This is not likely to help candidates to achieve their best grades.

Centres should make sure that video evidence is clearly labelled but also that it is clear which candidate is which. This is especially important for team games where there may be many players on the pitch/ court. Using bibs, shirt numbers and colour, describing what they are wearing all help a moderator to be able to identify who is who.

All learning outcomes must be filmed. LO3 which involves OAA must be filmed in the outdoors.

Assessment for learning

Guidance says footage must be in competitive situation, so centres do not need to film lots of drills showing various skills. They need competitive footage. If footage does not show candidates at their best for whatever reason, e.g. not a very challenging opponent, then centres should get more footage. Submitting multiple games is better than submitting lots of clips of drills.

Distinction criteria: The example of creativity in the teaching content is a shot between their legs. This is not a realistic example of creativity. Creativity and flare should be shown by an aptitude to perform at a high standard, using a range of skills and tactics appropriately according to the position/requirements of their sport/position.

Unit 19: Sport and exercise psychology

This unit has been well done by many centres. While there is not a chapter in the Cambridge Technical textbook, there is a very useful section in the OCR PE A Level textbook which would be useful to use when teaching this unit.

Assessment for learning

D2: The command word is 'evaluate' the methods therefore candidates must give advantages/disadvantages of the methods or some equivalent in order to evaluate the methods. Explaining the methods is not meeting the criteria.

M5: This requires candidates to analyse how the psychological impact differs. Again, explaining one then the other is not analysing how they differ.

Unit 20 – Sport and exercise sociology

This is a unit not that many centres take as mainly on the extended diploma route, however when it is selected as an option it is done very well with a high number accessing the distinction grades.

Assessment for learning

P5: The command word is 'evaluate' so candidates must evaluate the strategies not just describe them.

Supporting you

Teach Cambridge	Make sure you visit our secure website <u>Teach Cambridge</u> to find the full range of resources and support for the subjects you teach. This includes secure materials such as set assignments and exemplars, online and on-demand training.
	Don't have access? If your school or college teaches any OCR qualifications, please contact your exams officer. You can <u>forward them</u> <u>this link</u> to help get you started.
Reviews of marking	If any of your students' results are not as expected, you may wish to consider one of our post-results services. For full information about the options available visit the <u>OCR website</u> .
Access to Scripts	For the June 2023 series, Exams Officers will be able to download copies of your candidates' completed papers or 'scripts' for all of our General Qualifications including Entry Level, GCSE and AS/A Level. Your centre can use these scripts to decide whether to request a review of marking and to support teaching and learning.
	Our free, on-demand service, Access to Scripts is available via our single sign-on service, My Cambridge. Step-by-step instructions are on our <u>website</u> .
Keep up-to-date	We send a monthly bulletin to tell you about important updates. You can also sign up for your subject specific updates. If you haven't already, sign up here.
OCR Professional Development	Attend one of our popular CPD courses to hear directly from a senior assessor or drop in to a Q&A session. Most of our courses are delivered live via an online platform, so you can attend from any location.
	Please find details for all our courses for your subject on Teach Cambridge . You'll also find links to our online courses on NEA marking and support.
Signed up for ExamBuilder?	ExamBuilder is the question builder platform for a range of our GCSE, A Level, Cambridge Nationals and Cambridge Technicals qualifications. <u>Find out more</u> .
	ExamBuilder is free for all OCR centres with an Interchange account and gives you unlimited users per centre. We need an <u>Interchange</u> username to validate the identity of your centre's first user account for ExamBuilder.
	If you do not have an Interchange account please contact your centre administrator (usually the Exams Officer) to request a username, or nominate an existing Interchange user in your department.
Active Results	Review students' exam performance with our free online results analysis tool. It is available for all GCSEs, AS and A Levels and Cambridge Nationals.
	Find out more.

Need to get in touch?

If you ever have any questions about OCR qualifications or services (including administration, logistics and teaching) please feel free to get in touch with our customer support centre.

Call us on 01223 553998

Alternatively, you can email us on support@ocr.org.uk

For more information visit

- ocr.org.uk/qualifications/resource-finder
- 🖸 ocr.org.uk
- facebook.com/ocrexams
- ★ twitter.com/ocrexams
 ★
- instagram.com/ocrexaminations
- Iinkedin.com/company/ocr
- youtube.com/ocrexams

We really value your feedback

Click to send us an autogenerated email about this resource. Add comments if you want to. Let us know how we can improve this resource or what else you need. Your email address will not be used or shared for any marketing purposes.





Please note – web links are correct at date of publication but other websites may change over time. If you have any problems with a link you may want to navigate to that organisation's website for a direct search.



OCR is part of Cambridge University Press & Assessment, a department of the University of Cambridge.

For staff training purposes and as part of our quality assurance programme your call may be recorded or monitored. © OCR 2023 Oxford Cambridge and RSA Examinations is a Company Limited by Guarantee. Registered in England. Registered office The Triangle Building, Shaftesbury Road, Cambridge, CB2 8EA. Registered company number 3484466. OCR is an exempt charity.

OCR operates academic and vocational qualifications regulated by Ofqual, Qualifications Wales and CCEA as listed in their qualifications registers including A Levels, GCSEs, Cambridge Technicals and Cambridge Nationals.

OCR provides resources to help you deliver our qualifications. These resources do not represent any particular teaching method we expect you to use. We update our resources regularly and aim to make sure content is accurate but please check the OCR website so that you have the most up to date version. OCR cannot be held responsible for any errors or omissions in these resources.

Though we make every effort to check our resources, there may be contradictions between published support and the specification, so it is important that you always use information in the latest specification. We indicate any specification changes within the document itself, change the version number and provide a summary of the changes. If you do notice a discrepancy between the specification and a resource, please <u>contact us</u>.

You can copy and distribute this resource freely if you keep the OCR logo and this small print intact and you acknowledge OCR as the originator of the resource.

OCR acknowledges the use of the following content: N/A

Whether you already offer OCR qualifications, are new to OCR or are thinking about switching, you can request more information using our Expression of Interest form.

Please get in touch if you want to discuss the accessibility of resources we offer to support you in delivering our qualifications.